STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Oct 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Laurens County

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TIMOTHY P. SPENCER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000685

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial court err in refusing to allow appellant to cross-examine the crime scene investigator about taking eight-to-ten Tramadol a day when the integrity of the crime scene was a key issue in the case?

2.

Did the trial court err in refusing to grant a mistrial because of the solicitor's improper disparaging comments about defense counsel?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for murder in Laurens County and on April 15, 2024, was tried before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury. R.1. Joshua L. Thomas and Jared Simmons represented the State. R. 1. Chelsea B. McNeill, Joel T. Broome, and Tristan Shaffer represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 1025-1026. Judge Hocker sentenced appellant to life imprisonment. R. 1035. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On Issue One, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. State v. Pradubsri, 403 S.C. 270, 276, 743 S.E.2d 98, 101 (Ct. App. 2013) (reversing the trial judge’s refusal to allow cross-examination regarding mandatory minimum sentences witness avoided to show bias). “Before a trial judge may limit a criminal defendant’s right to engage in cross-examination to show bias on the part of the witness, the record must clearly show the cross-examination is inappropriate.” State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 331, 563 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2002).

On Issue Two, “The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” State v. Inman, 395 S.C. 539, 565, 720 S.E.2d 31, 45 (2011).

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in refusing to allow appellant to cross-examine the crime scene investigator about taking eight-to-ten Tramadol a day when the integrity of the crime scene was a key issue in the case.

The case against appellant Timothy Spencer for the murder of Billie Jean Cross was entirely circumstantial. Spencer worked as an HVAC repairman. Spencer had done work for Cross through a home warranty company and on December 9, 2021, she called Spencer because her heat was not working. R. 664. Spencer called her back, told her the price for a new unit, and Cross paid for the work over the phone. R. 644. Despite the police lying to him about nonexistent evidence and interviewing him several times, Spencer denied having anything to do with Cross's death. R. 719-721.

Cross's mother spoke to her on the morning of December 9 and she said she was waiting on the HVAC repairman. R. 77-88. Cross's mother became concerned when she could not reach her and midday on December 10, she and Cross's cousin, Kathy Warren, went to Cross's house with the police. R. 80, 88. Cross's car was in the driveway and her door was locked. R. 88-89. Warren said the locked door was unusual. R. 89. Cross was disabled and usually left her doors unlocked because she had a hard time getting to the door. R. 89.

Warren asked the police to break into the house, which she did. R. 89. The officer used a tool to break the glass and unlock the door. R. 102. Nothing inside was out of order. R. 89. A blue quilt was on the floor and when it was moved, the officer noticed a dark spot that she thought was blood. R. 104-107. The officer also noticed what she thought were drag marks. R. 107-109. The officer called for investigators. R. 111.

The crime scene investigator who responded was Robbie Haupfear with the Laurens County Sheriff's Office. R. 130-131. He took some photographs and a sample from the stain on the carpet. R. 131. Before cross-examination, defense counsel told the court he had a matter of law. R. 151.

Defense counsel learned that Haupfear had an addiction to pills and wanted to cross-examine him about it. R. 151-152. The State objected, first maintaining that nothing about a drug problem was in a personnel file the defense subpoenaed. R. 151-153. Judge Hocker allowed the defense to cross-examine Haupfear outside of the jury's presence to determine the admissibility. R. 153.

During the proffer, Haupfear admitted that he had "an issue with prescription medication" and that he suffered from this problem during the time he was at Cross's house. R. 154. Haupfear eventually told his supervisor about his problem and was placed on leave. R. 154-155. He ultimately left the Laurens Sheriff's office and was a school resource officer at the time of his trial testimony. R. 129, 154-155.

Haupfear was taking a prescription medication called Tramadol. R. 155. Tramadol is a Schedule IV controlled substance as a narcotic. 21 C.F.R. § 1308.14(b)(3). Haupfear said it was a "pain medication" and that he "was just starting to take too many of them at one time." R. 155. He claimed it had no effect on him because he had been taking it for a long time. R. 155-156. He was prescribed 50 milligram pills. R. 157. Haupfear admitted he was taking "eight to ten a day." R. 156. He said he was "roughly" taking 400-500mg per day. R. 157. When the solicitor examined him during the proffer, Haupfear said the pills did not affect his work on the case. R. 158.

Before hearing argument, Judge Hocker ruled he would not allow cross-examination about Tramadol. R. 159. The judge reasoned that Haupfear said the medication did not affect him and the defense would need a doctor to say that the amount of Tramadol would affect his ability to do his job. R. 159. The defense argued that the cross-examination was proper impeachment and relevant to the integrity of the investigation. R. 159-160. Haupfear's assertion that he was "fine" was proper fodder for cross-examination. R. 160-161. The judge replied that the cross-examination would invite speculation from the jury and refused to allow it. R. 161.

On cross-examination before the jury, the defense showed many problems with Haupfear's investigation at the scene. He agreed that keeping people out of a crime scene was important while it was processed, but that Cross's mother and Warren were permitted to stay inside while he worked. R. 168. No crime scene tape was used. R. 170. He was the last person to leave Cross's house. R. 170. The police locked the door, but put no seals or tape to secure the house. R. 171-173. The glass on the door was still broken and Haupfear admitted anyone could have opened the door. R. 174.

Haupfear did not check the windows to see if they were locked. R. 175. He did not dust for fingerprints around any of the windows. R. 175. He admitted he should have done that. R. 175. He admitted the house was left unsecured for four days until Cross's body was found on December 14. R. 176-177. When the police (and Haupfear) went back to the house on December 14, they did "all the processing that [they] didn't do on the 10th." R. 179.

On December 14, some prospective purchasers of rural property in Anderson County found Cross's body when they did a pre-closing walk-through. R. 198-199. The Anderson police who arrived immediately put up crime scene tape and notified forensics. R. 203. Cross was found with a scarf tied so tightly around her neck that the pathologist had a difficult time removing it. R. 420-

421. The doctor opined that Cross died from strangulation with blunt force trauma to the head as a contributing factor. R. 434-435.

The pathologist could not give a definitive time of death. R. 460. The State's theory was that Spencer killed Cross on December 9, put her body into a rolling trash can, and dumped both the body and the trash can in separate places. R. 50-51. But the pathologist said that from the condition of the body, December 9 was an "outlier" in terms of the possible dates she died. R. 449-450. She had no obvious decomposition of her body despite (per the State's theory) being outside in a field for four days. R. 458. Defense counsel asked, "But again, if she had been placed in that field, taking in all the factors that we talked about, the weather, the precipitation, the temperature fluctuation, the fact that she was wrapped in a blanket when she was found, it would be out of the norm for her to have died in the 9th." R. 461. The pathologist answered, "I think that is fair, yes." R. 461.

The night of December 9—the date the State claimed Spencer killed Cross—Cross's neighbor Carlos Gosnell saw a blue SUV parked in Cross's yard. R. 908-912. Gosnell said the car was unusual and he never saw other cars at Cross's house. R. 908-912. Gosnell thought it was a GMC Envoy. R. 911. The police noticed a blue Chevy Trailblazer at Spencer's house on December 15. A Trailblazer and Envoy look similar and Spencer's Trailblazer attracted the police's attention, but the Trailblazer was covered in debris, had obviously been sitting for a while, and did not run because of a blown engine. R. 751. R. 904-905. Def. Ex. 28, 30. The Trailblazer had a ladder tied to the roof. Def. Ex. 28, 30. Gosnell said the blue SUV he saw did not have a ladder on its roof. R. 911.

The police's best evidence against Spencer came from a GPS unit attached to his Dodge Ram truck placed there by the dealership who sold it to him and financed it. R. 334-337. The

police used the GPS to plot Spencer's truck's location on December 9. R. 687-695. According to the police's interpretation of the GPS data, Spencer's truck arrived at Cross's house on 11:31 AM and left only an hour later at 12:31 PM. R. 687-695. The GPS showed Spencer's truck then drove around Anderson County, including the spots where the police found Cross's body and her trash can. R. 687-695. But as defense counsel pointed out in closing, the GPS data was merely suspicious because appellant lived in the area and went by these places frequently. R. 1003.

When the police arrested Spencer, he had no defensive wounds. R. 173-184. The police found no DNA evidence matching Spencer. R. 498. But on the t-shirt Cross was wearing, the police found a mixture of three people. R. 500-501. One of these people was Cross, but the other two were not identified. R. 500. Spencer was excluded as one of the contributors. R. 500-501.

The trial judge erred in refusing to allow impeachment of Officer Haupfear. The evidence of his drug problem was relevant to the integrity of the investigation. Relevancy is a low bar and has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable." Rule 401, SCRE. "The Sixth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant the right to meaningful cross-examination of adverse witnesses." State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 325, 531 S.E.2d 907, 914 (2000).

The trial court essentially granted the State's objection to the cross-examination as a Rule 403 objection, although the State made no specific argument other than denying such evidence existed before Haupfear testified in the proffer. Haupfear's ability to do his job unimpaired was probative. It showed that the police did no real investigation of the supposed scene of the murder on December 9 and left the house unsecured. The house remained unsecured for four days, including when Gosnell saw an unusual SUV that could not have been Spencer's late at night.

No potential for unfair prejudice existed. Haupfear admitted his drug problem. He admitted taking massive amounts of Tramadol. He admitted he was taking Tramadol during the period he was at Cross's house. The trial judge's concerns about speculation did not relate to the admissibility of the evidence, but to the need for cross-examination and redirect by the solicitor. Haupfear's credibility as to whether ten Tramadol would affect him was for the jury to decide.

The inadequacy of a police investigation is a legitimate defense strategy. State v. Wright, 140 A.3d 939, 945-46 (Conn. 2016). "[I]t is proper to explore the drug addiction of a witness in order to attack his credibility and capacity to observe the events in question." United States v. Sampol, 636 F.2d 621, 666-67 (6th Cir. 1980). The Sampol court noted that cross-examination about a witness's drug use can be explosive and required the defense to establish that the witness was using drugs at the time of the event. Id. Officer Haupfear admitted his Tramadol use at the time. See also Wilson v. United States, 232 U.S. 563, 567-68 (1914) (finding no error in cross-examining a witness about her morphine addiction as it had a material bearing on her reliability).

In United States v. Fowler, 465 F.2d 664, 665 (D.C. Cir. 1972), an undercover agent and principal witness for the government refused a drug test. The police dismissed the agent and put as the reason that he was underweight. Id. "Under such circumstances we conclude defense counsel had a right to cross examine the agent as to the true reasons for his dismissal, and as to whether he was using narcotics at the time he observed appellant commit the alleged offense." Id. "The obvious ground for such cross examination would be to determine the witness' credibility and his powers of observation at the time he observed the offense." Id. See also, United States v. Garrett, 542 F.2d 23, 26 (6th Cir. 1976) (finding defendant was entitled to cross-examine police officer about his narcotics use). In Fowler and Garrett, the defense was stuck only with an officer's

refusal of a drug test. But here, Officer Hauptfear admitted his drug use. The probative value in appellant's case is substantial.

The defense's theme in its closing argument was that the police investigation was sloppy and they did nothing to follow other leads—including the car seen by Gosnell and the DNA on her body—because they had the GPS data. R. 985-1007. Showing that the crime scene investigator was drug-addled on December 9 would have significantly bolstered the defense's theme and the power of this argument. The jury would have seen the State's excessive focus on the GPS evidence in a different light—as one that allowed sloppy police work. With no direct evidence, no DNA, no fingerprints, and a weak motive, this error cannot be harmless and this Court should reverse.

2.

The trial court erred in refusing to grant a mistrial because of the solicitor's improper disparaging comments about defense counsel.

The solicitor made an improper closing argument disparaging defense counsel and contrasting their "job" with his "job" of bringing the jury "the evidence that you need to reach a verdict in this case." R. 951-952. The solicitor began this line of argument by telling the jury that "Everybody in this courtroom has a job, right?" R. 951-952. Judge Hocker's "job" was to explain the law "call the balls and strikes sort of down the middle, make sure that this trial is fair." R. 951-952.

The solicitor next addressed the "job" of defense counsel in a disparaging manner that was highly improper. The solicitor said:

The Defense attorneys: the Defense team, they've got a job too, and their job is to represent Mr. Spencer's interest. Mr. Spencer's interest in this case is not for you to understand what really happened to Billy Jean Cross.

Mr. Spencer's interest is counter to that, and they have done a very good job of representing him this—these last couple weeks. If a witness took this stand and they did something wrong or they made a mistake, they heard about it. You heard about it.

The Defense's job is to poke holes in the case, to poke holes in the evidence, to try to distract you, to try and get you confused about what really happened. Make no mistake about it. They're trying to muddy the waters, but that's their job, and that's fine.

R. 951-952.

Defense counsel apparently emailed the judge the relevant case—Fortune v. State, 428 S.C. 545, 837 S.E.2d 37 (2019)—during the solicitor's closing argument. R. 979. During the break between arguments, the defense moved for a mistrial because of the solicitor's improper comments disparaging their "job." R. 979-985. After reviewing Fortune and the other cases cited by the defense, the trial judge indicated the phrase "muddy the waters" was improper and offered a curative instruction. R. 979-985. Defense counsel accepted the curative, but stated that the curative would not undo the prejudice and maintained that a mistrial was required, offering to approach after the curative to renew the objection. R. 979-985. The trial judge said, "You're protected on the record." R. 979-985. Defense counsel renewed the mistrial request after closings were completed and again after the verdict. R. 1011-1012; 1029.

The Fortune Court said that remarks like the solicitors have been "universally condemned." Fortune at 551-52, 837 S.E.2d at 40-41. The solicitor in Fortune said his "job" was to "show the truth." Id. Here the solicitor did not say "truth," but said his "job" was to bring the jury the evidence it needed for a verdict.

More on point are the solicitor's comments disparaging the defense in Fortune. Like here, the solicitor contrasted his "job" with the "job" of defense counsel. "On the other hand, the defense attorneys' jobs are to manipulate the truth. Their job is to shroud the truth. Their job is [to] confuse

jurors. Their job is to do whatever they have to—without regard for the truth—to get a not guilty verdict.” Id.


Fortune first condemned the improper remarks by the solicitor about his job being about the truth. Next, the Court wrote, “The assistant solicitor in this case also improperly characterized the role of defense counsel. We find this misconduct is also inexcusable.” Id. at 554-55, 837 S.E.2d at 42. The Fortune Court cited with approval United States v. Vaccaro, 115 F.3d 1211, 1218 (5th Cir. 1997) in which a solicitor’s argument that defense counsel “muddle the issues” is “clearly improper.” Id.

No difference exists between “muddle the issues” and “muddy the waters.” The Fortune Court found that the improper argument so infected the trial with unfairness that reversal was required. Here, the error was not cured by the Court’s instruction not to consider the “muddy the waters” comment. The damage had been done.

While the comments here are not as inflammatory on the surface as in Fortune, the context was more devastating. Fortune was a self-defense case and there was no dispute the defendant shot the victim. In appellant’s case, the defense was the weak circumstantial evidence and the sloppy investigation. Pointing out the deficient investigation increased the likelihood the jury would find the State did not meet its burden of proving reasonable doubt and could have concluded that someone else committed the crime. Saying defense counsel was trying to confuse the jury and “muddy the waters” by pointing out the police mistakes and absent evidence went to the heart of the defense’s strategy. The facts of this case make the remarks by the solicitor more damaging than in Fortune. While judges understandably are reluctant to grant a mistrial after two weeks of hard fighting from both sides, the solicitor’s comments here were entirely improper and deprived appellant of a fair trial. This Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse appellant's conviction and remand for a new trial.