RECEIVED

Oct 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY PAUL SPENCER,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2024-000685

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

R. BRANDON LARRABEE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104865

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, South Carolina 29648-0516
(864) 942-8800

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court did not err in excluding unfairly prejudicial cross-examination about the drug use of one of the investigators because the evidence was not probative as to the officer's credibility and did not enhance the jury's understanding of investigatory mistakes.**

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in declining to allow Appellant to cross-examine Officer Haupfear about his dependency on Tramadol. Appellant is incorrect; the trial court properly limited the scope of cross-examination when it would have served no purpose other than to inject unfairly prejudicial evidence into the trial.

Not all relevant evidence is admissible under South Carolina's evidentiary rules. Instead, even relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Rule 403, SCRE. The rules also limit the ability of counsel to probe the character or conduct of witnesses on cross-examination. For example, Rule 608(a) makes it clear that opinion or reputation evidence can be used against a witness—or for a witness in certain circumstances—but that, in attacking a witness, "the evidence may refer only to character for truthfulness or untruthfulness." Rule 608, SCRE. The rules do allow for a witness to be cross-examined about specific incidents of previous conduct, but again, the questions have to relate to truthfulness. *See* Rule 608(b); *see also State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 34, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000) ("Prior bad acts which are not the subject of conviction, such as the dismissed indictments here, may only be inquired into, 'in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness.'" (quoting Rule 608(b), SCRE)). And our supreme court has held that "[n]arcotics offenses are generally not considered probative of truthfulness." *Aleksey*, 343 S.C. at 34, 538 S.E.2d at 255.

And while defendants certainly have the right to a vigorous cross-examination of the case against them—and the witnesses making that case—the right is not unlimited, as our courts have noted. Circuit courts do not “lose their usual discretion to limit the scope of cross-examination” because of the nature of the trial. *Id.* at 33–34, 538 S.E.2d at 255; *see also State v. Mizzell*, 349 S.C. 326, 331, 563 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2002) (“The trial judge retains discretion to impose reasonable limits on the scope of cross-examination.”). Not surprisingly, the defendant’s right to cross examination largely echoes Rule 403. “[T]rial judges retain wide latitude insofar as the Confrontation Clause is concerned to impose reasonable limits on such cross-examination based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, witness’ safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant.” *Aleksey*, 343 S.C. at 34, 538 S.E.2d at 255 (quoting *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 679, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986)).

It’s also important to focus on what Appellant is requesting—not the right to ask Officer Haupfear about his errors in crime scene investigation and preservation, but about what Appellant speculates is the reason for those errors. In fact, as part of an extensive cross-examination, Appellant’s trial counsel had Officer Haupfear read from the Laurens County Sheriff’s Department’s police and procedures (R. p. 165, ll. 10–18); confirmed the victim’s mother and cousin were allowed to remain in the victim’s home after it seemed likely that the home was a crime scene (R. p. 169, ll. 12–23); challenged the officers’ failure to seal or tape the doors to the home when they left (as conceded by Officer Haupfear) (R. p. 173, ll. 21–25); and pointed out that the door’s lock alone might have been ineffective because of a broken window (as conceded by Officer Haupfear) (R. p. 174, ll. 1–11)—among other things. The trial court did not restrict the defense from a robust cross-examination of Officer Haupfear about his mistakes, which was

unquestionably relevant to the trial; the trial court did prohibit the defense from bringing up speculation as to the cause of those mistakes, which was not relevant.

In fact, Appellant tried to prove that the officer's drug issues were relevant—and couldn't. Officer Haupfear pointed out that one reason he was taking too much Tramadol² was that lower doses were not effective. (R. p. 155, l. 19–p. 156, l. 8). As the trial court correctly observed, Appellant did not bring in an expert witness to testify about the potential effects of Tramadol. (R. p. 159, ll. 4–14).

None of Appellant's case law—largely drawn from other jurisdictions—helps him. No doubt, courts have found that the drug use of a witness can be relevant on cross-examination to cast doubt on the witness' perception, recall, or testimony. *See United States v. Sampol*, 636 F.2d 621, 666 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (“We have recognized that it is proper to explore the drug addiction of a witness in order to attack his credibility and capacity to observe the events in question.”); *State v. Williams*, 412 S.E.2d 359, 364 (N.C. 1992) (“While specific instances of drug use or mental instability are not directly probative of truthfulness, they may bear upon credibility in other ways, such as to ‘cast doubt upon the capacity of a witness to observe, recollect, and recount, and if so they are properly the subject not only of cross-examination but of extrinsic evidence’” (quoting 3 David Louisell & Christopher B. Muller, *Federal Evidence* § 305, at 236 (1979))).³

² According to the Mayo Clinic, Tramadol is a pain reliever for “moderate to moderately severe pain,” including “pain severe enough to require opioid treatment and when other pain medicines did not work well enough or cannot be tolerated.” *See Tramadol (Oral Route)*, MAYO CLINIC, <https://www.mayoclinic.org/drugs-supplements/tramadol-oral-route/description/drg-20068050> (last visited Sept. 22, 2025). The clinic further explains that “[t]he extended-release capsules or tablets are used for chronic ongoing pain.” *Id.*

³ In the spirit of candor to the Court, Respondent would note that the Supreme Court of North Carolina held in *Williams* that North Carolina's Rule 611, rather than Rule 608, was the controlling rule in that case. *Id.* The *Williams* Court found that Rule 611 allowed the information in because it was relevant to the witness' credibility. *Id.* at 364–65. But for reasons Respondent will explain, that is not the issue that Appellant is raising. In any event, our supreme court has referenced Rule

But Appellant’s target in this case was not Officer Haupfear’s credibility. The defense was not trying to show that Officer Haupfear was lying about his actions at the crime scene; if anything, Appellant was relying on jurors to believe Officer Haupfear’s testimony about the investigation missteps or mistakes he made at the crime scene. The defense was instead trying to show, as Appellant argues in his brief to this court, that “the crime scene investigator was drug-addled” because it would “have significantly bolstered the defense’s theme and the power of this argument.” Init. Br. App. 10.

Rule 403 does not, of course, prevent litigants from introducing evidence that makes their arguments more powerful, but it does prevent litigants from introducing unfairly prejudicial evidence to do so. “Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis.” *State v. Huckabee*, 419 S.C. 414, 423, 798 S.E.2d 584, 589 (Ct. App. 2017) (quoting *State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct. App. 2008)); *cf. State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010) (“Photographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions.”). The only power that would have been added to the argument by eliciting testimony of Officer Haupfear’s use of Tramadol was precisely what Appellant says—the fact that someone misusing pain relievers was on the investigation meant the jury should disregard the substantial evidence pointing to Appellant’s guilt because those who are dependent on drugs are inherently incompetent.⁴

608 in deciding whether narcotics use is an appropriate area for cross-examination. *See Aleksey, supra.*

⁴ Because of that substantial evidence, the State would argue that any limitation on Appellant’s cross-examination of Officer Haupfear is harmless. *See State v. Mizzell*, 349 S.C. 326, 333, 563 S.E.2d 315, 318 (2002) (“A violation of the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to

The trial court split the difference here in a way that allowed in the truly probative evidence—the mistakes made by Officer Haupfear, among others, during the investigation—while keeping out the unfairly prejudicial (and not particularly probative) evidence that would have merely allowed the jury to speculate about why those mistakes happened, or whether other unmentioned mistakes might also have occurred.

Appellant has not shown any error by the trial court on this ground. His conviction should be affirmed.

confront the witness is not *per se* reversible error if the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” (cleaned up)). The factors for this determination include

the importance of the witness’ testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course the overall strength of the prosecution’s case.

Id., at 333, 563 S.E.2d at 318–19 (quoting *Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. at 684, 106 S.Ct. at 1438, 89 L.Ed.2d at 686. The State’s strongest evidence—as even Appellant seems to concede—came from other sources. *See* Init. Br. App. 8. Additionally, the trial court allowed thorough cross-examination outside of the limitation on questions about drug use.

II. Any violation of *Fortune* by the deputy solicitor—assuming it is properly before this Court—was properly addressed by the trial court’s curative instruction.

Appellant also contends that his conviction should be reversed because the deputy solicitor’s closing argument violated our supreme court’s ruling in *Fortune v. State*. Appellant did not properly preserve this argument, and even if he did, he ignores significant differences between *Fortune* and this case.

A. Appellant cannot raise the issue before this Court because he did not contemporaneously object at trial and does not qualify for the limited exception to that requirement on closing arguments.

As a preliminary matter, Appellant cannot raise this issue before this Court because he did not contemporaneously object below. Because of that, and because Appellant does not qualify for the narrow exception to the contemporaneous objection rule that our courts have carved out for closing arguments, this Court should not consider this issue.

“A contemporaneous objection is required to preserve issues for appellate review. ‘Ordinarily, if an appellant fails to object the first time a statement is made, he or she waives the right to raise the issue on appeal.’” *Turner v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 430 S.C. 569, 590, 846 S.E.2d 1, 12 (Ct. App. 2020) (quoting *Scott v. Porter*, 340 S.C. 158, 167, 530 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 2000)).

Appellant seems to realize that he has a procedural hurdle here. He highlights a part of the record that suggests that his trial counsel emailed the judge a copy of *Fortune* while the deputy solicitor’s arguments were underway. But an email is not an objection, and Appellant’s came too late.

The statement that Appellant objects to took place early in the deputy solicitor’s closing argument. But trial counsel for Appellant did not object immediately. Instead, counsel waited for the deputy solicitor to complete his closing argument, which runs for roughly 25 more pages of

transcript after that. Only after the court turned to the defense for its closing statement did counsel notify the trial court that there was an issue. Our state's preservation rules are meant to avoid that kind of late-breaking objection.

The State recognizes, of course, that litigants sometimes do not need a contemporaneous objection to preserve an alleged error on closing arguments. *See Toyota of Florence, Inc. v. Lynch*, 314 S.C. 257, 263, 442 S.E.2d 611, 615 (1994) (“[E]ven in the absence of a contemporaneous objection, a new trial motion should be granted in flagrant cases where a vicious, inflammatory argument results in clear prejudice.”); *see also State v. Bennett*, 369 S.C. 219, 233 n.3, 632 S.E.2d 281, 289 n.3 (2006) (finding in a criminal case that it was not necessary to reach the contemporaneous objection issue).

But our supreme court has also held that this exception is limited. *See Dial v. Niggel Assocs., Inc.*, 333 S.C. 253, 256, 509 S.E.2d 269, 271 (1998) (finding that the exception is “narrow”); *id.* at 259, 509 S.E.2d at 272 (“[W]e now clarify that our holding in *Toyota* excuses the failure to make a contemporaneous objection only where the challenged argument constitutes abuse of a party or witness.”). Not just any improper argument allows a party to bypass the rule; it is reserved for “flagrant cases where a vicious, inflammatory argument results in clear prejudice.” *Toyota, supra*. That is not the case here.

More on this shortly, but it is not clear that the deputy solicitor's argument was an open-and-shut violation of *Fortune*, and the late objection was followed by a curative instruction from the trial court. Further, one of the concerns in *Toyota* was that some arguments are so outrageous that “it would be wholly unreasonable for any attorney to anticipate this type of abhorrent conduct.” *Toyota*, 314 S.C. at 263, 442 S.E.2d at 615. That isn't the case here, not only because the deputy solicitor went on for some time after the alleged prejudicial comments—defense

counsel apparently had time to draft an email—but also because the deputy solicitor made comments somewhat resembling part of the comments he made before a second time.⁵

Appellant also notes that the trial court said that the Appellant was “protected on the record.” But that came *after* the failure to contemporaneously object. Even if the trial court could decide on its own that the record is preserved, it cannot change whether the objection was contemporaneous or not after the fact.

As a result, this Court should find that Appellant’s argument is not preserved for its review. But even if it finds otherwise, Appellant’s argument has no merit.

B. There was no prejudice in this case because the deputy solicitor’s comments here were not as problematic as those in *Fortune*, and the trial court gave a proper curative instruction.

Appellant asks for this Court to invoke *Fortune* and grant him a mistrial. But there’s a problem: This case is not *Fortune*, and the trial court did in this case what our supreme court criticized the court in *Fortune* for failing to do.

In *Fortune*, the assistant solicitor contended in closing arguments that his job was “to present the truth.” *Fortune*, 428 S.C. at 550, 837 S.E.2d at 40. After defense counsel’s first objection, the assistant solicitor then proceeded to explain his responsibility to dismiss the charge if he thought it was unfounded and the obligation (so he said) to proceed with a case if he believed the defendant was guilty. *Id.* at 551, 837 S.E.2d at 40. The assistant solicitor added: “On the other hand, the defense attorneys’ jobs are to manipulate the truth. Their job is to shroud the truth. Their

⁵ The deputy solicitor later said: “Every question that Mr. Spencer asks, that his team asks, is designed not to get you to what really happened to Billy Jean Cross. It’s designed to get you sidetracked. Keep that in mind as you’re reviewing this evidence.” (R. p. 962). The State is not suggesting this argument is error, but it represents a second opportunity to object. Appellant’s trial counsel apparently failed to anticipate the argument not once, but twice.

job is [to] confuse jurors. Their job is to do whatever they have to—without regard for the truth—to get a not guilty verdict.” *Id.* (alteration in original).

That is not what the deputy solicitor said here. For one thing, the deputy solicitor did not explain to the jury that he had an obligation to dismiss the case if he thought it was unwarranted, something that troubled the *Fortune* Court. *See id.* at 553, 837 S.E.2d at 41 (“Courts have also condemned the specific misconduct in this case, when the prosecutor invokes his duty to dismiss unfounded cases and boasts of his responsibility to prosecute defendants the prosecutor knows to be guilty.”). The deputy solicitor here described his job differently—“to bring you the evidence that you need to reach a verdict in this case.” This is, in fact, what solicitors are supposed to do; it is essentially what all litigants (depending on the burden of proof) are supposed to do. It was not personally vouching for the State’s case or arguing that if there was nothing to it, the deputy solicitor would have thrown it out.

True, the deputy solicitor did say that the defense team’s job was “to represent [Appellant’s] interest.” Again, this happens to be true. The defense’s job was also “to poke holes in the case, to poke holes in the evidence”—or create reasonable doubt. The arguments that the defense’s goal was “not for you to understand what really happened to Billy Jean Cross” and that the defense was trying to “distract you, to try and get you confused about what really happened” come closer to the line set up in *Fortune*. But the deputy solicitor here did not outright state that the defense was trafficking in deceit. *Id.* at 554–55, 837 S.E.2d at 42 (“The assistant solicitor in this case also improperly characterized the role of defense counsel. We find this misconduct is also inexcusable.”).

Appellant focuses on the deputy solicitor’s remark that the defense was “trying to muddy the waters,” invoking *United States v. Vaccaro*—a case that was cited by our supreme court in

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